
 

 

      BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

REGULAR SCHEDULED MEETING 

12:00 P.M., July 23, 2024 

GHURA’s Main Office (via Zoom) 

1st floor, Conference Room, Sinajana  

AGENDA 

 

I. ROLL CALL 

 

II. BOARD MEETING PUBLIC ANNOUNCEMENTS 

 1st Printing – Tuesday, July 16, 2024 
 2nd Printing – Sunday, July 21, 2024 
 
III. APPROVAL OF PREVIOUS BOARD MINUTES – June 18, 2024                                                                              

                                                                                                                   PAGE (S)                                                        

IV.     NEW BUSINESS  

1. Intent of Award ……………………………………………………………………………….         1 - 3   

IFB GHURA-24-007; Computer Equipment Bid 

2. Resolution No. FY2024-020 …………………………………………………………….         4 - 8 

Resolution approving the 2024 the Capital Fund Program (CFP) 

Five-Year Action Plan (2024-2028) 

3. 2024 Low Income Housing Tax Credit Qualified Allocation Plan……..        9 - 43 

4. Resolution No. FY2024-016(A) ……………………………………………………….      44 - 48 

Resolution amendment authorizing GHURA to include and accept a  

grant of three hundred thousand dollars ($300,000.00) in Guam  

Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds for Community  

Development Projects and associated administrative costs. 

 

V. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S REPORT 

1. Project Updates 

2. Division Updates    
       

  VI.    GENERAL DISCUSSION / ANNOUNCEMENTS 

1. HR Item: Executive Management Performance Evaluations for: 

• Executive Director, Elizabeth F. Napoli, due on or before  

July 8, 2024 (Annual Evaluation)    

• Deputy Director, Fernando B. Esteves, due on or before  

August 22, 2024 (Annual Evaluation)  

2. Next proposed scheduled Board Meeting:  Tuesday, August 13, 2024 

@ 12:00 p.m.   

 

VII. ADJOURNMENT 



GUAM
 DAILY PO

ST • TUESDAY, JULY 16, 2024
19CLASSIFIEDS



GUAM
 DAILY PO

ST • SUNDAY, JULY 21, 2024
21CLASSIFIEDS



GHURA BOC Board Meeting Minutes of June 18, 2024                                                           Page 1 of 8 
 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

REGULARLY SCHEDULED MEETING 

12:00 P.M., June 18, 2024 

GHURA’s Main Office (via Zoom) 

1st floor, Conference Room, Sinajana  

AGENDA 

 

I. CALL TO ORDER 

After notice was duly given, pursuant to the Open Government Law of Guam and the Bylaws of 
the Authority, the Board of Commissioners’ regularly scheduled board meeting was called to 
order at 12:00 P.M., Tuesday, June 18, 2024, at the GHURA Sinajana Main Office, 1st floor 
Conference room. Chairman Rivera indicated that 4 of 6 members of the Board of 
Commissioners were present, representing a quorum and that the meeting would proceed as 
scheduled. 

 

 

II. BOARD MEETING PUBLIC ANNOUNCEMENTS 

1st Printing – Tuesday, June 11, 2024 

   2nd Printing – Sunday, June 16, 2024     

Viewed 
virtually via 

ZOOM: https://us06web.zoom.us/j/81445523578?pwd=5sQSoKCRGOEyV1qzEqjmESVmbxCYgG.1. 

 
YOUTUBE: https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCGqKWU0kOmT0FOLYn48ULag 

BOC 
Commissioners 
Attendance 
 

Dr. John Rivera, Chairman                                        Virtual   □            In-Person □      
Nate Sanchez, Vice Chairman                                  Virtual   □            In-Person     
Anisia Delia, Commissioner                                      Virtual   □           In-Person   □           
Emilia Rice, Commissioner                                       Virtual   □           In-Person     
Victor Torres, Commissioner                                   Virtual   □           In-Person     
Karl Corpus, Resident Commissioner                     Virtual   □          In-Person      
*Requests to attend BoC meeting virtually- NONE 

GHURA 
Management/ 
Staff  

Elizabeth F. Napoli, Executive Director          Julie Lujan, MIS Administrator □              
Fernando B. Esteves, Deputy Director   □        Sonny Perez, AE Manager □ 
Audrey Aguon, Special Assistant                     Norma San Nicolas, Section 8 Administrator □  
Frances Danieli, Controller □                              Narcissa Ada, AMP1 Manager □ 
Katherine Taitano, RP&E Chief Planner □          Gina Cura, AMP2 Manager □ 
Dr. Kimberly Bersamin, HR Administrator □    Patrick Bamba, AMP3 Manager □ 
Antonio Camacho, HPA □                                      Philomena San Nicolas, AMP4 Manager □ 
Pearly Mendiola, GT Manager □                         Jolyn Terlaje □     Perfecto Taladoc □ 
Nicole Alejandro, Section 8 □                               Miguel Fernandez, AE   □        
Michael Ricuyal, AE    □                                          Ervin Santiago, AE    □                                           
Maria Cherry Canete, AE                                     Jenna Alano, ROSS   □              
Naricel Carlos  □                                                     Patrick Luces, MoD  
 

Legal Counsel Eliseo M. Florig, GHURA’s Legal Counsel  

 

Public None indicated 

 

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/81445523578?pwd=5sQSoKCRGOEyV1qzEqjmESVmbxCYgG.1
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCGqKWU0kOmT0FOLYn48ULag


GHURA BOC Board Meeting Minutes of June 18, 2024                                                           Page 2 of 8 
 

   ACKNOWLEDGED BY Vice Chairman Sanchez 

 

III. APPROVAL OF PREVIOUS BOARD MINUTES:  

[283/24] Commissioner Rice moved to approve the board meeting minutes 

of May 28, 2024 subject to corrections. The motion was seconded by 

Commissioner Torres. There were no objections by the other board 

members. Motion passed unanimously.  

 

IV. NEW BUSINESS: 

AGENDA ITEM DISCUSSION ACTION 

 

1. Resolution No. FY2024-017, 
Resolution approving the 2024 
Annual PHA Plan, Version 3, 
Significant Amendment #1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[284/24] Executive Director 
Napoli read Resolution No. 
FY2024-017, page 2 of 72 in the 
BOC packet.  

 

Vice Chairman Sanchez inquired 
about whether this amendment in 
the Annual PHA Plan would 
incorporate the new policy 
standards. Executive Director 
Napoli confirmed this. She added 
that the March 2023 ACOP would 
be removed and replaced with the 
Version 3 with the significant 
amendment #1.  

Mr. Eliseo Florig, GHIURA’s Legal 
Counsel, recommended that the 
board indicate that the resolution 
incorporated all the changes made 
to what the board approved in 
February.  

There were no further discussions.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[285/24] 
Commissioner 
Torres moved to 
approve Resolution 
No. FY2024-017, 
Resolution 
approving the 
Annual PHA Plan, 
Version 3, 
Significant 
Amendment #1. 
Commissioner Rice 
seconded the 
motion. There were 
no objections by the 
other board 
members. Motion 
passed unanimously.  



GHURA BOC Board Meeting Minutes of June 18, 2024                                                           Page 3 of 8 
 

AGENDA ITEM DISCUSSION ACTION 

 

2. Resolution No. FY2024-018, 
Resolution approving the 2024 
Capital Fund Program (CFP) 
Five-Year Action Plan (2024-
2028) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[286/24] Executive Director 
Napoli read Resolution No. 
FY2024-018, Resolution 
approving the 2024 Capital Fund 
Program (CFP) Five-Year Action 
Plan (2024-2028) on page 24 of 
72 in the BoC packet.  

Commissioner Torres indicated 
that there were many door 
replacements and asked whether 
the round door handle 
replacements were also included 
with the replacements as door 
levers are better for persons with 
disabilities. Executive Director 
Napoli stated that door knob 
replacements were not specifically 
indicated in the 2024 CFP Five-
Year Action Plan, but would get 
clarification and report back to the 
board.  

Resident Commissioner Corpus 
agreed with Commissioner Torres 
and added that the door levers 
have worked well at their AMP 
site.  

Vice Chairman Sanchez requested 
that Director Napoli provide 
information regarding funding 
allocation. He added that the board 
wants to ensure that GHURA isn’t 
sacrificing quality over quantity or 
the safety of its clients, especially 
those with disabilities.  

Commissioner Rice indicated that 
most of the GHURA homes should 
be ADA compliant and reminded 
Director Napoli of that.  

There were no further discussions.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[287/24] 

Commissioner Rice 

moved to approve 

Resolution No. 

FY2024-018, the 

resolution approving 

the 2024 Capital Fund 

Program (CFP) Five-

Year Action Plan 

(2024-2028) 

Commissioner Torres 

seconded the motion. 

There were no 

objections from the 

other board members. 

Motion passed 

unanimously.  

 



GHURA BOC Board Meeting Minutes of June 18, 2024                                                           Page 4 of 8 
 

AGENDA ITEM DISCUSSION ACTION 

 

3. Resolution No. FY2024-019- 
Resolution approving the Five-
Year (2025-2029) and Annual 
(FY2025) PHA Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[288/24] Executive Director 
Napoli read Resolution No. 
FY2024-019- Resolution 
approving the Five-Year (2025-
2029) and Annual (FY2025) PHA 
Plan on page 28 of 72 in the BoC 
packet.   

Resident Commissioner Corpus 
indicated that he believed the 
board passed an Action Plan in 
2023. He added that the current 
resolution did not state an 
effective date. Attorney Florig 
stated that the resolution is for a 
period of (5) years and is inclusive 
of the years 2024, 2025, 2026, 
2027, and 2028. Attorney Florig 
indicated that the plan was dated 
that way so that it could be 
referenced. He indicated that for 
additional questions, Ms. Philly San 
Nicolas could provide more 
information, it may not be with 
respect to fiscal year, but possibly 
a calendar year. He indicated that 
in the past, this had been the 
standard procedures when 
changes or modifications are made 
to the ACOP, especially after the 
public comment period.  

Director Napoli stated that the 
resolution that Commissioner 
Corpus referred to may have been 
the Five-Year Action Plan for the 
Capital Fund Program, which 
differs from the Five-Year Action 
Plan for Public Housing being 
presented to the board at this 
meeting.  

Commissioner Torres inquired 
about whether a report on the 
plan’s progress will be presented 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



GHURA BOC Board Meeting Minutes of June 18, 2024                                                           Page 5 of 8 
 

AGENDA ITEM DISCUSSION ACTION 

to the board at a later time. 
Director Napoli indicated that on 
pg. 31 of 72 of the board packets, 
shows the goals and objectives for 
the 5-year PHA Plan for the 
commissioners’ review. She added 
that pg. 34 of 72, includes a 
progress report on the progress 
that GHURA has made in meeting 
the goals and objectives described 
in the previous 5-Year Plan.  

Vice Chairman Sanchez 
recommended that GHURA 
provide progress reports on the 
CFP and the PHA plan annually, 
following the approval of 5-Year 
and Annual PHA Plan.  

Director Napoli stated that she 
would inform the housing 
programs to provide program 
updates annually beginning in the 
end of fiscal year September 2025.  

There were no further discussions.  

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[289/24] 

Commissioner Corpus 

moved to approve 

Resolution No. 

FY2024-019, 

approving the Five-

Year (2025-2029) and 

Annual (FY2025) PHA 

Plan. Commissioner 

Rice seconded the 

motion. There were 

no objections. 

Motion passed 

unanimously.  



GHURA BOC Board Meeting Minutes of June 18, 2024                                                           Page 6 of 8 
 

 

V. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S REPORT: 

AGENDA ITEM DISCUSSION ACTION 

 

1. Project Updates 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[290/24] Executive Director 
Napoli stated the following: 

• May 13, 2024, GHURA 
successfully purchased a 
21-unit complex. 

• GHURA provided a 
Supervisory & Management 
Training which was held on 
May 2nd and 3rd at U.O.G. 

• Cohort (3) GCC 
Apprenticeship Program 
graduates from AMP3, RPE, 
and Section 8 received their 
certificates on May 17, 
2024.  

• Health & Wellness Fair- 
o held on May 18, 

2024 at AMP3’s 
Pagachao Resident 
Center and 
basketball court 
from 9am-3pm.  

o Coordinated effort 
between DPHSS, 
GHURA, and various 
stakeholders 

o To increase access to 
quality health 
services, education, 
and information to 
improve health 
outcomes in the 
community. 

o Members of the 
public were invited 
to attend 

o NSPIRE inspections 
were conducted at 
the AMP sites and GT 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



GHURA BOC Board Meeting Minutes of June 18, 2024                                                           Page 7 of 8 
 

AGENDA ITEM DISCUSSION ACTION 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2. Division Updates 

 

from May 20-31, 
2024. 

o GHURA issued a 
news release 
announcing an 
informational 
briefing session that 
will be conducted for 
housing developers 
interested in 
learning about the 
LIHTC program. 
Held at the Sinajana 
Community Center 
on Thursday, May 
20, 2024 at 1PM.  
 

There were no further discussions.  

 

 

• Mrs. Maria Cherry Canete 
announced on behalf of Dr. 
Kimberly Bersamin, HR 
Administrator, a reminder 
of the due date for 
performance evaluation of 
the Executive Director and 
Deputy Director. 

• Performance evaluations 
are to be completed by the 
board members. 

• Hard copies of the 
completed forms are to be 
submitted to HR for 
tabulation.  

• Mandatory Ethics Training 
as a refresher and for new 
board members is 
tentatively scheduled for 
July 31, 2024 at UOG.  

• June 28, 2024 virtual Ethics 
Training is available, but  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

No action taken. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



GHURA BOC Board Meeting Minutes of June 18, 2024                                                           Page 8 of 8 
 

AGENDA ITEM DISCUSSION ACTION 

will be difficult for GHURA 
to schedule the June 28, 
2024 training date as the 
timeline will be tight to 
prepare the Determination 
of Need and purchase order.  

 

 

VI. GENERAL DISCUSSIONS / ANNOUNCEMENTS: 

AGENDA ITEM DISCUSSION ACTION 

 
1. Next proposed scheduled Board 

meeting: Tuesday, July 9, 2024 
@12PM 

 

[291/24] Vice Chairman Sanchez 
requested that commissioners 
mark their calendars for the 
next scheduled board meeting.  

 

No Action taken.  

 

 

 

VII. ADJOURNMENT: 

AGENDA ITEM DISCUSSION ACTION 

  [292/24] 

Commissioner Rice 

moved to adjourn 

board meeting of 

June 18, 2024. 

Commissioner 

Torres seconded the 

motion. There were 

no objections by the 

other board 

members. Motion 

passed and meeting 

adjourned at 

12:54PM 

SEAL 
                   ______________________________ 
                 Elizabeth F. Napoli 
       Board Secretary/Executive Director 
   
        Date __________________________    



Board Meeting of July 23, 2024 PAGE 1 of 48



Board Meeting of July 23, 2024 PAGE 2 of 48



Board Meeting of July 23, 2024 PAGE 3 of 48



GUAM HOUSING AND URBAN RENEWAL AUTHORITY 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

RESOLUTION NO. FY2024-020 

 

 

Moved by:         Seconded by       

 

RESOLUTION APPROVING THE ADOPTION OF THE NEW UTILITY 

ALLOWANCE SCHEDULE FOR THE PUBLIC HOUSING PROGRAM 

 

WHEREAS,  the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) Regulation 

24 CFR 965.507 requires that Public Housing Authorities (PHA) establish 

allowances for resident purchased utilities for all utilities purchased directly 

from the utility suppliers; and 

WHEREAS, the HUD requires the PHA to review their Utility Allowances at least annually; 

and the PHA must revise its allowances for a utility category if there has been 

a change of 10% or more in the utility rate since the last utility allowance 

schedule was updated; and 

WHEREAS, GHURA had identified the need for a utility allowance study services since the 

last study was done in 2019. GHURA had contracted Atlas Technical 

Consultants, LLC, to conduct a utility allowance study for the Public Housing 

Program to include allowances for medical equipment; and  

WHEREAS,  As reflected in Exhibit 3, Utility Allowance Schedule, 2019 vs. 2024 

Comparison, there are increases in utilities for each bedroom size from 22% to 

60%.  GHURA will inform the Public Housing residents of the planned 

allowances and revisions; and  

WHEREAS, It is the desire and intent of the Board of Commissioners to comply with the 

HUD regulations to establish allowances for resident purchased utilities, now 

therefore, be it 

RESOLVED, that the Board of Commissioners of the Guam Housing and Urban Renewal 

Authority (GHURA) hereby approves the adoption of the new Utility 

Allowance Schedule for the Public Housing Program for resident-purchased 

utilities, as reflected in Exhibit 1, and allowances for medical equipment, as 

reflected in Exhibit 2. These allowances will be effective October 1, 2024. 

  

Board Meeting of July 23, 2024 PAGE 4 of 48



IN REGULAR BOARD MEETING, SINAJANA, GUAM – JULY 23, 2024 

PASSED BY THE FOLLOWING VOTES: 

AYES:  

NAYES:  

ABSENT:  

ABSTAINED:  

 

(S E A L) I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true, and correct 

copy of a Resolution adopted by the Guam Housing and 

Urban Renewal Authority Board of Commissioners on  

                                                            July 23, 2024. 

(S E A L) 

 

________________________________________ 

ELIZABETH F. NAPOLI 

Board Secretary/ Executive Director  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Board Meeting of July 23, 2024 PAGE 5 of 48



Locality                             

Guam Housing & Urban Renewal Authority None

1 BR 2 BR 3 BR 4 BR 5 BR 6 BR
Natural Gas $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 
Bottled Gas $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 
Electric Resistance $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 
Electric Heat Pump $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 
Fuel Oil $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 
Natural Gas $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 
Bottled Gas $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 
Electric $16 $23 $30 $40 $48 $56 
Other $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 

$83 $116 $148 $181 $216 $251 
$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 

Natural Gas $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 
Bottled Gas $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 
Electric $43 $56 $70 $83 $96 $109 
Fuel Oil $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 

$39 $47 $81 $117 $153 $189 
$32 $32 $32 $32 $32 $32 
$30 $30 $30 $30 $30 $30 
$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 
$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 

$15 $15 $15 $15 $15 $15 

Other Electric
Air Conditioning

Unit Type Date (mm/dd/yyyy)

Utility or Service Monthly Dollar Allowances

Space Heating

6/1/2024

Allowances for Tenant-Furnished Utilities and Other Services
U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development Office of Public and Indian Housing

Allowances prepared using the HUD Utility Schedule Model (HUSM). Report based on Form HUD-52667.

Green Discount

Refrigerator
Other - Monthly Electric Fee

Water Heating

Water
Sewer
Trash Collection
Range/Microwave

Cooking

Board Meeting of July 23, 2024 PAGE 6 of 48

philly
Text Box
EXHIBIT 1



ALLOWANCES FOR MEDICAL EQUIPMENT 
 

Description  Quantity/Month  Allowance 
Air conditioner, window type, 10,000 BTU  229 kWh $77 
Oxygen concentrator, 400W  219 kWh $73 
Nebulizer, 75W  5 kWh $2 
Electric hospital bed, 200W  1 kWh $1 
Alternating pressure pad, 70W  51 kWh $17 
Low air-pressure mattress, 120W  88 kWh $29 
Power wheelchair/ scooter, 360W  67 kWh $22 
Feeding tube, 120W  44 kWh $15 
CPAP machine, 30W  9 kWh $3 
Leg Pump  3 kWh $1 
Portable Dialysis Machine  78 kwh $26 

 

Board Meeting of July 23, 2024 PAGE 7 of 48

philly
Text Box
EXHIBIT 2



GHURA UTILITY ALLOWANCE SCHEDULE

2019 VS 2024 COMPARISON EXHIBIT 3

1-BR ELDERLY

BDRM 

SIZE
PARTICULARS FY 2019

 2024 

PROPOSED 

1BR-ELD Cooking 7.00$             16.00$           

Lights, Ref (Other) 8.00$             83.00$           

Water Heating 18.00$           43.00$           

Other Elec (tariff) -$               15.00$           

TOTAL 33.00$      157.00$    

Water  -$               -$               

Sewer -$               -$                

Trash Collection -$               -$                

Optional: Med Equip - see list 2.00$             -$               

TOTAL 35.00$           157.00$         

BDRM 

SIZE
PARTICULARS FY 2019

 2024 

PROPOSED 

BDRM 

SIZE
PARTICULARS FY 2019

 2024 

PROPOSED 

1BR Cooking 7.00$             16.00$           4BR Cooking 11.00$         40.00$         

Lights, Ref (Other) 9.00$             83.00$           Lights, Ref (Other) 15.00$         181.00$       

Water Heating 54.00$           43.00$           Water Heating 54.00$         83.00$         

Other Elec (tariff) -$               15.00$           Other Elec (tariff)  15.00$         

Water 27.50$           39.00$           Water 74.50$         117.00$       

Sewer 27.50$           32.00$           Sewer 27.50$         32.00$         

Trash Collection 30.00$           30.00$           Trash Collection 30.00$         30.00$         

TOTAL 155.00$    258.00$    TOTAL 212.00$    498.00$    

Optional: Med Equip - see list 2.00$              Optional: Med Equip - see list 2.00$              

TOTAL 157.00$       258.00$        TOTAL 214.00$       498.00$       

BDRM 

SIZE
PARTICULARS FY 2019

 2024 

PROPOSED 

BDRM 

SIZE
PARTICULARS FY 2019

 2024 

PROPOSED 

2BR Cooking 9.00$             23.00$           5BR Cooking 12.00$         48.00$         

Lights, Ref (Other) 12.00$           116.00$         Lights, Ref (Other) 16.50$         216.00$       

Water Heating 54.00$           56.00$           Water Heating 54.00$         96.00$         

Other Elec (tariff) -$               15.00$           Other Elec (tariff) 15.00$         

Water 35.00$           47.00$           Water 115.00$       153.00$       

Sewer 27.50$           32.00$           Sewer 27.50$         32.00$         

Trash Collection 30.00$           30.00$           Trash Collection 30.00$         30.00$         

TOTAL 167.50$    319.00$    TOTAL 255.00$    590.00$    

Optional: Med Equip - see list 2.00$              Optional: Med Equip - see list 2.00$              

TOTAL 169.50$       319.00$       TOTAL 257.00$       590.00$       

232.00$       

BDRM 

SIZE
PARTICULARS FY 2019

 2024 

PROPOSED 

BDRM 

SIZE
PARTICULARS FY 2019

 2024 

PROPOSED 

3BR Cooking 10.00$         30.00$         6BR Cooking 12.00$         56.00$         

Lights, Ref (Other) 13.50$         148.00$       Lights, Ref (Other) 17.50$         251.00$       

Water Heating 54.00$         70.00$         Water Heating 54.00$         109.00$       

Other Elec (tariff) -$               15.00$           Other Elec (tariff) 15.00$         

Water 61.00$         81.00$         Water 158.50$       189.00$       

Sewer 27.50$         32.00$         Sewer 27.50$         32.00$         

Trash Collection 30.00$         30.00$         Trash Collection 30.00$         30.00$         

TOTAL 196.00$    406.00$    TOTAL 299.50$    682.00$    

Optional: Med Equip - see list 2.00$             Optional: Med Equip - see list 2.00$              

TOTAL 198.00$       406.00$       TOTAL 301.50$       682.00$       

INCREASED BY $124 

(22%)

INCREASED BY $103 

(60%)

INCREASED BY 

$151.5 (53%)

 INCREASED BY 

$210 (48%) 

INCREASED BY 

$382.50 (44%)

INCREASED BY $335 

(43%)

INCREASED BY $286 

(43%)

Board Meeting of July 23, 2024 PAGE 8 of 48



 

GUAM HOUSING AND URBAN RENEWAL AUTHORITY 

2024 LOW INCOME 
HOUSING TAX CREDIT 

QUALIFIED ALLOCATION 
PLAN 

      
 

 

Pending Approval by GHURA BOC  
      

 

  

GHURA developed this Qualified Allocation Plan (QAP) which sets forth (1) the criteria to evaluate 

and allocate tax credits to projects which best meet the housing needs of Guam, and (2) the 

procedure to monitor for compliance with the provisions of the Low-Income Housing Tax Credit 

Program. 

 

Board Meeting of July 23, 2024 PAGE 9 of 48



 

Contents 
I. Introduction .......................................................................................................................................... 3 

A. Low Income Housing Tax Credit ....................................................................................................... 3 

B. Purpose and Scope ........................................................................................................................... 3 

C. The Public Input Process .................................................................................................................. 3 

D. Housing Needs Assessment ............................................................................................................. 4 

II. Allocation of Credits ............................................................................................................................. 4 

A. QAP Timetable .................................................................................................................................. 5 

B. Threshold Requirements .................................................................................................................. 5 

1. Federal Threshold Requirements ................................................................................................. 5 

2. GHURA’s Threshold Requirements............................................................................................... 5 

III. Selection Criteria .............................................................................................................................. 8 

Criteria 1. ................................................................................................................................................... 9 

Criteria 2. ................................................................................................................................................. 10 

Criteria 3. ................................................................................................................................................. 11 

Criteria 4. ................................................................................................................................................. 12 

Criteria 5. ................................................................................................................................................. 13 

Criteria 6. ................................................................................................................................................. 15 

Criteria 7. ................................................................................................................................................. 16 

Criteria 8. ................................................................................................................................................. 17 

Criteria 9. ................................................................................................................................................. 17 

Criteria 10. ............................................................................................................................................... 18 

Criteria 11. ............................................................................................................................................... 18 

Criteria 12. ............................................................................................................................................... 19 

Criteria 13. ............................................................................................................................................... 19 

Criteria 14. ............................................................................................................................................... 20 

IV. Rights of GHURA ............................................................................................................................. 21 

V. Fees ..................................................................................................................................................... 22 

VI. Compliance Monitoring Plan ......................................................................................................... 22 

Summary ................................................................................................................................................. 22 

Compliance ............................................................................................................................................. 23 

Qualifying Households ........................................................................................................................... 25 

Board Meeting of July 23, 2024 PAGE 10 of 48



Rent Restrictions ..................................................................................................................................... 27 

Eviction of Tenants ................................................................................................................................. 27 

Audits ...................................................................................................................................................... 27 

Rural Housing Service (RHS) and Tax-exempt Bond Issue Projects ..................................................... 28 

Reporting Requirements ......................................................................................................................... 29 

Fees ......................................................................................................................................................... 29 

Non-compliance Penalties ...................................................................................................................... 29 

Extended Use Period ............................................................................................................................... 30 

Appeal ......................................................................................................................................................... 31 

Other ........................................................................................................................................................... 32 

Appendix 1 .................................................................................................................................................. 33 

Appendix 2 .................................................................................................................................................. 34 

 

  

Board Meeting of July 23, 2024 PAGE 11 of 48



 

I. Introduction 

A. Low Income Housing Tax Credit 
The Low-Income Housing Tax Credit (LIHTC) Program, created by the Tax Reform Act of 1986, is intended 

to encourage the construction or rehabilitation of low-income rental units. The LIHTC program provides 

tax incentives to developers who build or rehabilitate affordable rental housing for low-income 

households. The LIHTC program is administered by the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) and state housing 

finance agencies (HFAs). GHURA has been designated the HFA responsible for administering the LIHTC 

program. 

The LIHTC program is authorized under Section 42 of the Internal Revenue Code. The QAP is authorized 

under Section 42(m)(1)(A) of the Internal Revenue Code. This section requires each state to develop a 

QAP that is consistent with the LIHTC program’s overall goals and objectives. 

B. Purpose and Scope 
The purpose of this QAP is to establish the policies and procedures for the allocation of Low-Income 

Housing Tax Credits (LIHTCs) in Guam. The QAP provides guidance to developers, investors, and other 

stakeholders on the criteria and priorities that the Guam Housing and Urban Renewal Authority (the 

"Agency") will use to award LIHTCs to eligible affordable housing projects. 

This QAP is intended to support GHURA’s mission of promoting the development of safe, decent, and 

affordable housing for low-income households in Guam. Through the LIHTC program, the Agency seeks to 

incentivize the private sector to invest in the development and preservation of affordable rental housing 

that serves the needs of low-income households. 

The QAP establishes the eligibility requirements, scoring criteria, and other policies and procedures that 

the Agency will use to allocate LIHTCs to eligible projects. The QAP also describes the public input process, 

the application process, and the compliance and monitoring procedures that the Agency will use to 

ensure that LIHTC projects meet the program's requirements. 

The QAP is based on the Agency's analysis of the state's housing needs, market conditions, and other 

relevant factors. The QAP reflects the Agency's priorities for this year and is subject to change based on 

changes in housing needs, LIHTC demand, and other factors. 

The QAP is not intended to establish binding rules or regulations, but rather to provide guidance to 

developers, investors, and other stakeholders on the Agency's LIHTC allocation process. The Agency may 

make exceptions or modifications to the QAP on a case-by-case basis if it determines that such exceptions 

or modifications are necessary to further the program's goals and objectives. 

C. The Public Input Process 
The public input process for LIHTC typically involves several steps. First, GHURA will hold a public meeting 

or hearing to gather input from interested parties, including developers, community organizations, and 

residents. These meetings provide an opportunity for stakeholders to share their perspectives on the 

states affordable housing needs, and to offer suggestions for how LIHTC can be used to address those 

needs. 

Board Meeting of July 23, 2024 PAGE 12 of 48



Once GHURA has received input from stakeholders, it will develop the QAP based on Guam’s priorities and 

criteria for awarding tax credits to developers. The QAP is then made available to the public for comment 

which is hosted by the agency. After the public comment hearing, GHURA will consider the feedback, 

finalize the QAP and open it up for developers to submit an application. 

D. Housing Needs Assessment 
Guam’s current rental market is strong due to the driven presence of military personnel and the rising 

costs for residential construction. Individuals and families are finding rental units are for more desirable 

than mortgages due to the high cost of living. Despite the numerous LIHTC projects throughout island, 

public housing, and housing assistance programs, there is still a high demand for affordable housing. In 

addition, populations such as the disabled, elderly, veterans, and the homeless are finding a scarcity in 

affordable housing to meet their special needs. 

In order to alleviate the pressures or demand, Guam through this QAP should consider the following: 

• 1- or 2-Bedroom units for individuals/smaller families 

• 3- or 4-Bedroom units for larger families 

• Veteran Affair units 

• Elderly Housing units 

II. Allocation of Credits 
This QAP sets forth (1) the criteria to evaluate and allocate tax credits to projects which best meet the 

housing needs of Guam, and (2) the procedure to monitor for compliance with the provisions of the LIHTC 

Program. 

This allocation plan shall be effective for LIHTC reservations and awards in calendar years 

2023/2024. The QAP is subject to amendment by the GHURA Board of Commissioners. 

The QAP will utilize a point system to rank projects based upon the evaluation criteria established. The 

ranking of projects, along with all other relevant data, will determine the priorities to be followed by 

GHURA in allocating tax credits to the projects under consideration. The scores derived from the point 

system will be a component of the overall evaluation, and not the sole determining factor for the 

awarding of tax credits. In addition to the scores derived, GHURA will review all relevant data required in 

the application.  GHURA retains the option to approve or reject applications based on GHURA’s 

assessment of Guam’s housing needs during the period covered by the QAP. Projects selected under this 

QAP shall be evaluated as to the minimum amount of tax credits required in order to make the project 

feasible.  

The 2024 Guam QAP will focus on housing for smaller families, deconcentration of poverty, and 

prevention of disparate impact to the neighborhood and surrounding community.  

GHURA provides greater emphasis on larger projects wherein 80% of the project will consist of 1-to-2-

bedroom units. There will be no cap as to how many units for the development, however, projects will be 

encouraged to maximize the number of units developed using the maximum number of credits possible. 

Guam’s 2024 tax credit allocation total is $6,545,000($3,185,000 issued on October 18, 2022 under Rev. 

Proc. 2022-38 for CY2023 allocation, and $3,360,000 issued on November, 2023 under Rev. Proc. 2023-34 

Board Meeting of July 23, 2024 PAGE 13 of 48



for CY2024 allocation). Applicants seeking housing credit allocations in excess of the 2024 total must 

demonstrate the financial capability to complete the project or show that the project can be scaled to fit 

the available 2024 funding. Although forward commitments of future allocation funds are permitted, 

those commitments are subject to approval by the GHURA Board of Commissioners and are not 

guaranteed. GHURA supports and encourages applicants to consider the merits of mixed financing in 

pursuit of sustainable affordable development. 

 

A. QAP Timetable 
The QAP timeline is as follows: 

• June 24, 2024 to July 05, 2024 – Public Comment Period 

• July 23, 2024 – Presentation to GHURA BOC for approval 

• July 25, 2024 to October 25, 2024 – QAP/Application Open to the Public 

• October 25, 2024 – Application Closes/Final Submissions 

• October 28, 2024 to November 8, 2024 – Evaluation Panel Review/Final Scoring 

• November 12, 2024 – Final Recommendation to the GHURA BOC/Award Decision 

• December 31, 2024 – Final day Carryover Allocation Submission 

B. Threshold Requirements 
There are several threshold requirements for housing developments to receive tax credits both on the 

federal and state level. 

1. Federal Threshold Requirements 
a) The project must be a residential rental property (either new construction or rehab).   

b) The property owner must commit to one of two possible low-income occupancy rules—the 

20-50 rule, which stipulates that at least 20 percent of the units must be occupied by 

households with incomes at or below 50 percent of the area median income, or the 40-60 

rule, which requires at least 40 percent of the units must be occupied by households at or 

below 60 percent of the area median income.   

c) The affordable units have maximum rent levels (including utilities) set at 30 percent of gross 

household income for households at the maximum income limit. For example, if a unit is 

restricted to households earning 60 percent of AMI, a household with a gross income of 50 

percent of AMI would have to spend more than 30 percent of their income on rent. Some 

households fill that gap with other housing assistance, such as housing vouchers.     

d) Tax credits are allocated only for the construction costs of the affordable units—so-called 

“qualified construction costs”—though the project could have a mix of affordable and market-

rate units, and could include commercial and/or community space. 

e) Property owners must operate under the income and rent restrictions for at least 30 years. 

2. GHURA’s Threshold Requirements 
a) Set Asides – Applicants will determine which set aside they will utilize for the project. 

i. 9% Credits Set Aside: Applicants are advised that the agency will administer 9% 

LIHTC credits only to be used for the following: 

Board Meeting of July 23, 2024 PAGE 14 of 48



a. Construction of a New Building. The term “New Building”, as 

defined by Section 42 of the IRC, is “a building the original use of 

which begins with the taxpayer.” Rehabilitation of existing 

inventory but excluding acquisition costs of real estate, buildings, 

and depreciable assets from eligible basis (no acquisition LIHTC). 

b. Substantial Rehabilitation projects that do not have other federal 

funds. Federal funds include loans and bonds with below market-

rate interest. Rehabilitation is “substantial” if a minimum amount 

is spent on each rent-restricted lower-income unit, or 10% is 

spent on the “eligible basis” (Eligible Basis = Total Development 

Costs – Land Acquisition) during a 24-month period, whichever is 

greater.  

ii. Income Averaging Set Aside 

The Consolidated Appropriations of 2018 established a new income averaging set 

aside for LIHTC developments. (Please refer to Appendix 1 for income average 

guidelines.) 

b) Market Study:  A comprehensive Market Study of the housing needs of low-income 

individuals in the area to be served by the project by a disinterested third party must be 

submitted as part of this application.  The Market Study shall be completed at the Owner’s 

expense.  Any applicant failing to submit a Market Study, or submits a Market Study with a 

date older than 6 months before the date of application submission, will not be considered 

for an award of tax credits.  (Market Study requirements are specified in Appendix 2.) 

c) Site Control and Zoning:  To receive consideration for an award of LIHTC, the applicant must 

have control of the site in a form acceptable to GHURA.  Evidence of site control shall be 

submitted with the application for Low Income Housing Tax Credits.  Site control shall be 

substantiated by providing evidence in the form of an executed lease or sale option 

agreement, fee simple deed, executed land lease, or any other documentation acceptable to 

GHURA.  Evidence of site control must be provided for all proposed sites. Applicant should 

have a site that is properly zoned and ready for development. Zoning should include the 

description, land use classification, whether your project will conform to existing zoning for 

the property, and documentation. 

 

All lease terms must extend a minimum of five (5) years past the minimum affordability 

period. 

 

d) Capital Needs Assessment (For projects acquiring an existing property. All Units need to be 

reviewed.) 

 

To ensure that the proposed rehabilitation of the project is adequate and that the property 

will have a useful life that exceeds the compliance and additional use period (collectively the 

Extended Use Period). A capital needs assessment of the property by a competent third party 

shall be submitted with the application. A capital needs assessment is a qualified 

professional’s opinion of a property’s current physical condition. It identifies deferred 

maintenance, physical needs and deficiencies, and material building code violations that 

Board Meeting of July 23, 2024 PAGE 15 of 48



affect the property’s use, structural and mechanical integrity, and future physical and financial 

needs. The Capital Needs Assessment shall identify any work that must be completed 

immediately to address health and safety issues, violation of Federal or local law, violation of 

local code, or any work necessary to ensure that the building can continue to operate as 

affordable housing. 

e) Public Housing Waitlist/Homeless Services Programs: Applicant shall certify that all low-

income units will be made available to people on the waiting list for public housing, and/or 

acceptable homeless service programs. The following shall be submitted with the application: 

i. Copy of the letter submitted to the local public housing authority which 

administers the public housing waiting lists that units will be available. 

ii. Copy of the letter submitted to the Guam Homeless Coalition that provides 

services and programs to participating homeless services providers that units will 

be available. 

f) Smoke Free: All projects will be smoke free. Owners must prohibit smoking in all indoor 

common areas, individual living areas (including balconies and car ports), and within 20 feet 

of building entries or ventilation intakes. A non-smoking clause must be included in the lease 

for each household.  

g) Phase I Environmental Assessment 

Required for all applications. For acquisition/rehabilitation projects, the Phase I Environmental 

Assessment should address lead-based paint and asbestos. 

h) Proof of Non-Profit Status 

If applying under the Federal non-profit set aside, submit the following: 

i. Articles of Incorporation 

ii. Copy of a current 501(c)(3) IRS Tax Exemption Letter 

i) Minimum Affordability Period: 

i. Applicants requesting an award of 9% LIHTC must commit to a minimum 

affordability period of 45 years. 

ii. Acquisition/Rehabilitation of an Existing Building used for housing applicants: 

affordability period must also exceed any pre-existing affordability period by no 

less than 30 years. 

  

Board Meeting of July 23, 2024 PAGE 16 of 48



III. Selection Criteria 
Each application will be evaluated and awarded points in accordance with the following criteria.  Unless 

otherwise indicated, all references to low-income unit(s) or low-income rental unit(s) shall mean low-

income housing tax credit unit(s).   

Application must have a minimum score of 77 out of 111 points to be considered for award. Selection 

Criteria are as follows: 
 

CRITERIA POINTS 

1 Project Location and Proximity 20 

2 Project Financial Feasibility/Viability  18 

3 Project Characteristics 12 

4 The populations served by the Project 15 

5 Developer, owner, and management team experience and capacity 12 

6 The community support and involvement for the project and its impact on 

the neighborhood 

5 

7 The affordability of the rents and the length of the affordability period 14 

8 Local/Federal Government Support 2 

9 Qualified Non-Profit Organization 1 

10 Qualified Census Tract 2 

11 Replacement of existing public housing units 1 

12 Project will receive project-based rental assistance 1 

13 Historic Nature of the Project 1 

14 Developer Fee 7 

 

  

Board Meeting of July 23, 2024 PAGE 17 of 48



Criteria 1. (20 Points) Project Location and Proximity 

The location of the project and its proximity to amenities, services, transportation, and jobs will have 

an impact on the quality of life and economic opportunities for low-income households. Please note 

this criterion consists of four subcategories: (1) proximity to public transportation; (2) proximity to 

grocery stores; (3) proximity to health care facilities; and (4) proximity to employment hubs. Each 

subcategory will be worth up to 5 points, depending on the distance from the proposed location to the 

nearest amenity or service. Distance is measured by driving distance using Google maps or a similar 

service. Please provide evidence through market study Points will be awarded as follows: 

Subcategory Distance Points Available 

Public Transportation 

Less than 5 miles 

5 – 10 miles 

10 – 15 miles 

More than 15 miles 

5 Points 

4 Points 

3 Points 

0 Points 

Grocery Store/Shopping 

Less than 5 miles 

5 – 10 miles 

10 – 15 miles 

More than 15 miles 

5 Points 

4 Points 

3 Points 

0 Points 

Health Care Facilities 

Less than 5 miles 

5 – 10 miles 

10 – 15 miles 

More than 15 miles 

5 Points 

4 Points 

3 Points 

0 Points 

Employment Hubs 

Less than 5 miles 

5 – 10 miles 

10 – 15 miles 

More than 15 miles 

5 Points 

4 Points 

3 Points 

0 Points 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Board Meeting of July 23, 2024 PAGE 18 of 48



Criteria 2. (18 Points) Project Financial Feasibility/Viability 

The financial feasibility and viability of the project and its sources and uses of funds helps ensure that 

project is economically sound, has sufficient funding resources, and can sustain its operations and 

affordability over time. Applicants should consider including commitment letters, letters of interest or 

term sheets from experienced LIHTC investors. This criterion is worth 18 points and will consists of 

three subcategories: (1) debt coverage ratio; (2) operating expense ratio; and (3) sources and uses of 

funds. The points are awarded as follows: 

Subcategory Standard or Benchmark Points Available 

Debt Coverage Ratio 

The ratio of net operating 

income to debt service 

payments. A higher ratio 

indicates ability to repay 

debt 

6 points for a ratio 1.2 

4 points for a ratio between 1.15 and 1.19 

2 points for a ratio between 1.10 and 1.14 

0 points for a ratio below 1.10 

Operating Expense ratio 

The ratio of operating 

expenses to effective 

gross income. A lower 

ratio indicates greater 

efficiency in managing 

costs. 

6 points for a ratio 45% 

4 points for a ratio between 46% and 50% 

2 points for a ratio between 51% and 55% 

0 points for a ratio above 55% 

Sources and uses of funds 

The amount and type of 

funding sources and how 

they are allocated to 

different project costs. A 

higher percentage of 

equity indicates greater 

financial strength and 

commitment. 

6 points for percentage of equity above 

80% 

4 points for percentage of equity between 

70% and 80% 

2 points for percentage of equity between 

60% and 70% 

0 points for percentage of equity below 

60% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Board Meeting of July 23, 2024 PAGE 19 of 48



Criteria 3. (12 Points) Project Characteristics 

The design and quality of the project are important in providing affordable housing that is attractive, 

functional, durable and comfortable for the residents and the community. The energy efficiency, 

accessibility, and sustainability features of a project are important for reducing the environmental 

impact of the housing, lowering the operating costs, and enhancing the health and well-being of the 

residents. Projects are encouraged to incorporate as much features as possible. 

Subcategory Description 
Points 

Available 

Unit Layout/Space 

Efficiency 

Efficient floor plans that maximize usable space, adequate 

storage space in each unit, optimal natural lighting and 

ventilation, and innovative design solutions to optimize small 

spaces. 

80% of the project should consist of 1-to-2-bedroom units. 

2 points 

Universal Design and 

Accessibility 

Barrier-free access to units and common areas, adherence to 

accessibility guidelines for doorways, hallways, and bathroom, 

and inclusion of adaptive design features for individuals with 

disabilities. 

If development is a multi-family multi-story project, ground 

level units should incorporate designs for individual with 

disabilities. 

2 points 

Architectural Compatibility 

and Neighborhood 

Integration 

Design that complements the existing architectural style of 

the neighborhood; use of materials and colors that blend well 

with the surroundings; and engagement with community 

stakeholders to incorporate their feedback. 

2 points 

Energy Efficiency and 

Sustainability Design 

Integration of energy-efficient building envelope and 

insulations, specification of high-efficiency HVAC systems and 

lighting, incorporation of renewable energy generation 

systems, and use of sustainable materials and construction 

practices. 

Projects are encouraged to incorporate green building 

certifications i.e. energy efficiency, LEED certifications and 

should provide evidence.  

2 points 

Community Spaces and 

Amenities 

Provision of common areas for social interaction and 

communication, inclusion of amenities such as playgrounds, 

gardens, or fitness facilities. 

2 points 

Durability and 

Maintenance 

Selection of high-quality construction materials and finishes 

and implementation of durable and low maintenance building 
2 points 

Board Meeting of July 23, 2024 PAGE 20 of 48



systems. 

 

Criteria 4. (15 Points) The populations served by the Project  

Successful LIHTC projects service populations of variety both to address the housing needs of the 

community and give opportunities for special populations to live in affordable housing. Points will be 

awarded to populations with special housing needs, homeless and at-risk populations, and certain 

preferences. Projects are encouraged to incorporate one or more types of populations and provide 

evidence to what extent of services or amenities will be available to each in the application.  

Subcategory Description 
Points 

Available 

Special 

Needs 

Physical Disabilities: preference may be given to projects that allocate a 

percentage of units to individuals or households with physical disabilities, 

ensuring accessibility features and accommodations. 

Mental Health Conditions: projects that provide supportive housing or 

partner with service providers to offer mental health services may receive 

additional points. 

Seniors: preference may be given to projects specifically designed for 

elderly individuals or households with features that support aging in place, 

such as grab bars, accessible entrances, or proximity to senior centers. 

The project will set-aside at least 20% of all units for tenant populations 

with special housing needs.  Persons with special housing needs may 

include the physically and mentally disabled. Units intended to serve the 

homeless must be used as permanent supportive housing, as regulation 

forbids the use of LIHTC projects as transient homeless shelters.  To receive 

consideration for this criterion: 

A. The project must commit to provide case management or services 

specific to this population or special facilities to accommodate the 

physically disabled. (Please provide details of the services and/or special 

facilities i.e. what ADA standards and designs will be incorporated in unit 

construction or facilities? How many units will meet ADA standards, if any? 

B. The Market Study shall specifically address the housing needs for the 

special needs group. 

5 Points 

Homeless 

and At-Risk 

Populations 

Homelessness: projects that reserve units for individuals or households 

transitioning from homelessness may receive priority. 

Foster Youth or Emancipated Youth: preference may be given to projects 

that allocate a portion of units specifically for foster youth aging out of the 

system or supportive services for these individuals. 

5 Points 

Board Meeting of July 23, 2024 PAGE 21 of 48



Domestic Violence Survivors: projects that prioritize housing for survivors of 

domestic violence and offer supportive services may receive additional 

points. 

Preferences 

Local Residents: preference may be given to individuals or families who 

currently reside in the local community or have strong ties to the area, 

promoting community stability and integration. 

Veterans: projects that allocate units or collaborate with veteran support 

organizations to provide housing for military veterans may receive 

preference. 

Displaced Individuals or Families: special consideration may be given to 

households that have been displaced due to natural disasters, eminent 

domain, or other emergencies, ensuring they have access to affordable 

housing. 

Individuals with Children: The Project will serve tenant populations of 

individuals with children and provide evidence through the service of 

programs for children.     

5 Points 

 

Criteria 5. (3-12 Points) Developer/Owner, and Management Team experience and capacity. 

 Description 
Points 

Available 

Developer/Owner 

Experience 

Developer/Owner (or any member/staff of the development 

team) has a record of successfully completing LIHTC projects.  

Developer/Owner has an understanding of the LIHTC 

program, application process, and compliance requirements. 

Developer/Owner has the financial stability and capacity i.e., 

the ability to secure financing, managing costs, and handle 

any unexpected expenses that may arise during the project. 

6 points 

Developer/Owner (or any member/staff of the development 

team) has no record of LIHTC projects but has experience of 

building affordable housing projects of similar design. 

Developer/Owner has made efforts to research and 

understand the LIHTC program, the application process and 

compliance requirements 

Developer/Owner has the financial stability and capacity i.e., 

the ability to secure financing, managing costs, and handle 

any unexpected expenses that may arise during the project.  

3 points 

Board Meeting of July 23, 2024 PAGE 22 of 48



Developer who has a track record of chronic or substantive 

non-compliance, returned allocations or failed projects. 

Developer has no experience in LIHTC projects or the LIHTC 

program 

0 points 

Management Team 

Management team has experience with LIHTC properties, a 

track record of successfully meeting LIHTC compliance 

requirements, understanding of income certifications and 

handling the unique challenges that come with managing 

affordable housing 

Management team can assess the property for maintenance 

and upkeep to maintain high-quality standards, addressing 

maintenance issues promptly and can conduct regular 

inspections to ensure property remains in good condition 

Management team has the ability to provide supportive 

services to low-income residents, can emphasize tenant 

satisfaction, communication, and responsiveness.  

6 points 

Management team has no experience in servicing LIHTC 

properties, but has experience in servicing projects of similar 

design. 

Management team will be able assess the property for 

maintenance and upkeep to maintain high-quality standards, 

addressing maintenance issues promptly and can conduct 

regular inspections to ensure property remains in good 

condition 

Management team will have the ability to provide supportive 

services to low-income residents, can emphasize tenant 

satisfaction, communication, and responsiveness. 

3 points 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Board Meeting of July 23, 2024 PAGE 23 of 48



Criteria 6. (5 Points) The community support and involvement for the project and its impact on the 

neighborhood 

LIHTC projects should take into consideration the following in regards to the community support and 

involvement: 

Subcategory Description 
Points 

Available 

Community Engagement 

Strategy 

Project will include local stakeholders and decision-making 

processes 
1 Point 

Partnerships with Local 

Organizations 

Project will partner with local organizations that provide 

support services to residents 
1 Point 

Community Development 

Initiatives 

Project developer/management team will support 

community development initiatives beyond the LIHTC 

property, such as support for economic development or 

neighborhood revitalization projects. 

1 Point 

Community Outreach and 

Education 

Project will make efforts to educate the community about 

the LIHTC program and affordable housing options, including 

hosting informational sessions or participating in community 

events. 

1 Point 

Tenant Input and 

Feedback 

Project management team will consider mechanisms for 

collection and incorporating tenant input and feedback. This 

could include tenant meetings, surveys, suggestion boxes or 

other channels of communication. The management team 

that actively seeks and values tenant input demonstrates the 

commitment to resident empowerment and community 

building for better LIHTC projects. 

1 Point 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Board Meeting of July 23, 2024 PAGE 24 of 48



Criteria 7. (14 Points) The affordability of the rents and the length of the affordability period  

The affordability of rents and the length of the affordability period are critical for the LIHTC 

developments. Factors such as the percentage of units set aside for low-income tenants compared to 

the Area Median Gross Income (AMGI) helps ensure the commitment to maintain affordable rents and 

to keep it within the LIHTC program guidelines. LIHTC developments typically have a minimum 

affordability period of 15 years, but some developments may have longer commitments.  

Subcategory Description 
Points 

Available 

Affordability of Rents 

100% of the project to households earning 60% or less of 

AMGI 

8 Points 

60% of the project to households earning 60% or less of 

AMGI, or 80% of the project to households earning 50% of 

less of AMGI. 

4 Points 

40% of the project to households earning 60% or less of 

AMGI, or 60% of the project to households earning 50% or 

less of AMGI 

2 Points 

Length of Affordability 

Period 

15-year compliance period plus 46 years or more 6 Points 

15-year compliance period plus 30 years extended use period 4 Points 

15-year compliance period plus 15 years extended use period 2 Points 

15-year compliance period no extended use period 0 Points 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Board Meeting of July 23, 2024 PAGE 25 of 48



Criteria 8. (0 -2 Points) Local/Federal Government Support 

The project will receive a below market loan or grant from a federal agency or Government of Guam 

agency other than GHURA which, in total amounts to 10% or more of the total development cost. 

Description 
Points 

Available 

The project has not applied for a below market loan or grant from a federal agency 

or Government of Guam agency, or if the total amount applied for is less than 10% 

of total development costs. 

 

 

0 Points 

The project has applied for a below market loan or grant from a federal agency or 

Government of Guam agency.  Documentation must provide evidence that an 

application for financing has been submitted. 

 

 

1 Point 

The project has received a commitment from a federal agency or Government of 

Guam agency.  A copy of a commitment letter or contractual agreement must be 

included in the application. 

 

 

2 Points 

 

Criteria 9. (1 Point) Qualified Non-Profit Organization 

The project will be owned by a qualified non-profit organization as defined in Section 42(h)(5)(B), (C) of 

the Internal Revenue Code. 

Description 
Points 

Available 

If the answer to the question is NO 0 Points 

If the answer to the question is YES, the organization must be a qualified non-profit 

organization at time of application submission. Organization must exist in and be 

qualified to do business in Guam. In addition, the following must be submitted: 

1. Articles of Incorporation 

2. Copy of a current 501(c)(3) IRS Tax Exemption Letter for the Qualified 

Non-Profit Organization 

3. Most recent Treasury Form 990 with all supporting documentation, as 

filed with the IRS 

4. The Qualified Non-Profit Organization is required to have a physical 

office on Guam 

 

 

1 Point 

Board Meeting of July 23, 2024 PAGE 26 of 48



Criteria 10. (0 -2 Points) Qualified Census Tract 

Project characteristics, including whether the project includes the use of existing housing as part of a 

community revitalization plan. 

Project is located in a Qualified Census Tract. The project will redevelop existing housing, which 

contributes to a concerted community revitalization plan as determined by GHURA.  

Description 
Points 

Available 

The project is located in a Qualified Census Tract. 1 Point 

The project will contribute to a community revitalization plan. 

(Copy of the plan to be submitted with the completed Application for GHURA’s 

review to claim the point.) 

 

1 Point 

The project is neither located in a Qualified Census Tract, nor contributing to a 

community revitalization plan. 

0 Points 

To receive consideration for this criterion, applicant must provide an explanation on how this project is 

in compliance with such plan and its benefit to the overall community.  The applicant must provide a 

letter of interest, or a binding agreement with the government agency administering the community 

revitalization plan. 

Criteria 11. (1 Point) Replacement of existing public housing units 

Project includes the development of new housing to replace existing public housing units. 

 Points Available 

If the answer to the question is NO 0 Points 

If the answer to the question is YES  1 Point 

To receive consideration for this criterion, the applicant must provide a letter of interest, or a binding 

agreement from the local administering Public Housing Authority to participate in a HUD-approved 

activity. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Board Meeting of July 23, 2024 PAGE 27 of 48



Criteria 12. (0-1 Points) Project will receive project-based rental assistance. 

Project will be receiving project-based rental assistance subsidies which would result in eligible tenants 

paying approximately 30% of their gross monthly income towards rent. Eligible programs shall include, 

but not be limited to, the Rural Development 515 Loan Program, and HUD Housing Choice 

Voucher/Section 8 Project-Based Rental Assistance Program. 

 Points Available 

If the answer to the question is NO 0 Points 

If the answer to the question is YES 

If the whole project has a secured authorization for project-based 

subsidies then 1 point will be awarded.  

1 Point 

 

Criteria 13. (0-1 Points) Historic Nature of the Project 

The proposed project will preserve the historic nature of an existing building. 

The proposed project involves the preservation of a building(s) on a national or state historic registry. 

 Points Available 

If the answer to the question is NO 0 Points 

If the answer to the question is YES  1 Point 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Board Meeting of July 23, 2024 PAGE 28 of 48



Criteria 14. (0 to 7 Points) Developer Fee 

The applicant elects to limit the total Developer Fee as a percentage of the total development cost 

(excluding developer fee and reserves) as presented in the application. The Developer Fee includes 

total fees paid to the Developer, including, but is not limited to, consulting fees, project management 

fees, developer overhead, and developer fees. Architectural, Engineering, Accounting, and Legal fees 

are not included as the Developer Fee. 

Applicants receive scores for this criterion based on the table below. Please note the different 

categories for New Construction vs. Acquisition / Rehabilitation applications. 

New Construction 
Acquisition / Rehabilitation 

Fee on Acquisition Fee on Rehabilitation 

Fee Points Fee Points Fee Points 

18% > Fee ≥ 16% 0 13% > Fee ≥ 11% 0 18% > Fee ≥ 16% 0 

16% > Fee ≥ 14% 1 11% > Fee ≥ 9% 1 16% > Fee ≥ 14% 1 

14% > Fee ≥ 12% 2 Fee < 9% 3 14% > Fee ≥ 12% 2 

12% > Fee ≥ 10% 3     Fee < 9% 4 

10% > Fee ≥ 8% 5         

Fee < 8% 7         

 

  

Board Meeting of July 23, 2024 PAGE 29 of 48



 

IV. Rights of GHURA 
The awarding of tax credits rests solely with the GHURA Board of Commissioners. Further, GHURA retains 

its discretionary authority to approve or disapprove any post-award modifications to the project. 

GHURA reserves the right to disapprove any application or project for any tax credit reservation or 

allocation, regardless of ranking under the criteria and point system as contained in Sections III of this 

QAP.  GHURA shall have the authority to defer consideration of any application if such deferral is deemed 

in the best interest of meeting housing needs.  

GHURA reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to do the following: 

(i) Hold back a portion of the annual federal housing credit ceiling for use during later reservation 

cycles,  

(ii) Carryover a portion of the current year's housing credit ceiling for allocation to a project which 

has not yet been Placed in Service, and  

(iii) Issue a reservation for the next year's housing credit ceiling. 

GHURA is required under the IRC of 1986, as amended, to allocate the minimum amount of tax credits 

required to make a project feasible.  The determination of the amount of tax credits to be reserved or 

allocated to a project shall be made solely at the discretion of GHURA. GHURA may, at the time of 

issuance of the IRS Form(s) 8609 for the project, decrease the amount of tax credits allocated to a project 

based on the actual cost and financing of the project. 

GHURA may, at its sole discretion, conduct a special round after the final scheduled round for a year for 

projects (i) where the applicant’s tax counsel has attested to an itemization of how the ten percent test 

prescribed by Internal Revenue Code Section 42(h)(1)(E) will be met; (ii) which have no deficient 

application items; and (iii) for which all exhibits have been submitted ("Year-End Round").  Year-End Round 

projects will receive a Carryover Allocation, not a reservation of LIHTCs, which may contain certain 

conditions and time periods for satisfying them.  The circumstances for conducting a Year-End Round are 

(1) availability of LIHTCs, and (2) potential loss of LIHTCs to the national pool.  When a Year-End Round is 

being conducted, applicants need to satisfy the above requirements in order to receive a Carryover 

Allocation; and LIHTCs will be processed on a first-come-first-served basis, and allocated to the extent 

available, and to the extent applications can be processed. 

GHURA, in no way, represents or warrants to any interested party which may include, but is not limited to, 

any developer, project owner, investor or lender that the project is, in fact, feasible or viable. 

No GHURA member, officer, agent or employee shall be personally liable concerning any matters arising 

out of, or in relation to, the reservation or allocation of Low-Income Housing Tax Credits. 

 

 

 

Board Meeting of July 23, 2024 PAGE 30 of 48



V. Fees 
The following fees are associated with the Low-Income Housing Tax Credit program.  GHURA reserves 

the right to adjust the fees due to changing circumstances, annually, each January 1.  All fees shall be 

paid via Cashier’s Check and made payable to the Guam Housing and Urban Renewal Authority.  

Application Fee  

An Application Fee of $1,500 per application shall be payable at the time of submission of the 

application.  The fee shall be the same for all applicants.  

Good Faith Deposit  

A good faith deposit of ten percent (10%) of the first year’s federal tax credits reserved shall be 

payable at the time the executed binding agreement is submitted to GHURA. Upon allocation and 

issuance of the IRS Form 8609, eighty percent (80%) of the good faith deposit shall be retained by 

GHURA as an administrative fee.  The remainder of the good faith deposit may be refunded to the 

applicant at the sole discretion of GHURA.  Failure to meet any of the elections made in the scoring 

criteria, participation elements, or requests for additional credits at the time of application, or after, 

may result in the retention of the entire good faith deposit by GHURA.  

Compliance Monitoring Fee  

Please refer to Section ‘VI. Compliance Monitoring Plan’ for more details regarding the Compliance 

Monitoring Fee.  

Qualified Contract Processing Fee 

Qualified Contract Fee of $150 per unit for all units 

Attorney’s Fees and Costs: 

In the event of a dispute or litigation regarding a QAP Agreement, the prevailing party shall be 

entitled to collect reasonable attorney’s fees, costs, and expenses. 

VI. Compliance Monitoring Plan 
Summary 

GHURA shall monitor compliance with all applicable Federal Program requirements for the 

period a project is committed to providing low-income rental units.  GHURA will require that all 

qualified tenants of a project be certified upon occupancy and be re-certified annually to ensure 

compliance.  Projects shall be required to maintain copies of the income certification for each 

tenant on forms approved by GHURA.  Projects will also be required to maintain records 

regarding number of rental units (including number of bedrooms and size of square footage of 

each bedroom); percentage of  total rental units that are low-income units; rent charged on each 

rental unit including utility allowances; number of occupants in each low-income unit for those 

buildings receiving tax credits prior to 1990; documentation regarding vacancies in the building; 

eligible and qualified basis of the building at the end of the first year of the credit period, and at 

the end of each year until required set-asides are met; and character and use of the 

Board Meeting of July 23, 2024 PAGE 31 of 48



nonresidential portion of the building that is included in the building's eligible basis, all in 

accordance with the rules published by the Internal Revenue Service.  

GHURA may perform an audit annually but at a minimum, once every three years, and shall have 

access to all books and records upon notice to the project owner. 

Annually, owners of low-income housing tax credit projects will be required to certify to GHURA 

that for the previous year,  

• the minimum set-aside requirement was met;  

• there was no change in the applicable fraction, or an explanation if there was a change; 
appropriate income certifications and documentation have been received for each low-
income tenant;  

• each low-income unit was rent-restricted in accordance with the Code;  

• all units were for use by the general public and used on a no transient basis (except for 
transitional housing for the homeless as provided for in the Code);  

• each building was suitable for occupancy, taking into account local health, safety and 
building codes;  

• there was no change in the eligible basis in the project, or an explanation if there was a 
change;  

• all tenant facilities included in the eligible basis were provided on a comparable basis 
without charge;  

• rentals of vacancies were done in accordance with the Code;  

• rentals of units were done in accordance with the Code if any tenant's income increased 
above the limit allowed by the Code;  

• a Restrictive Covenant document was in effect for the project, for those buildings 
receiving credits after 1989, all in accordance with the rules published by the Internal 
Revenue Service. 
 

If GHURA becomes aware of non-compliance, the Internal Revenue Service shall be notified in 

accordance with the rules published by the Internal Revenue Service. 

Please consult with your tax attorney and/or LIHTC consultant regarding Internal Revenue Code 

regulations.  Owners are responsible for keeping abreast of current LIHTC Program requirements. 

The guidelines outlined below in sections B through K pertain to projects allocated Low Income-

Housing Tax Credits in Guam. 

Compliance 

Owner/Manager Training 

Owners, managing agents, and on-site managers should attend, or document that they have 

recently attended, training on management and compliance prior to leasing any units, but no 

later than receipt of IRS Form 8609, which certifies an allocation of tax credits.  Training may be 

required following significant or repeated noncompliance events.  At minimum, such training 

should cover key compliance terms, qualified basis rules, determination of rents, tenant 

eligibility, file documentation, next available unit procedures and unit vacancy rules, agency 

reporting requirements, record retention requirements, and site visits. 

Board Meeting of July 23, 2024 PAGE 32 of 48



 

 Set Aside 

The project must comply with the low-income set-aside requirements of Section 42 of the 

Internal Revenue Code  as chosen by the owner at the time of receiving the credits.  The 

minimum requirements are either: 

1. 20 percent or more of the units are occupied by tenants having a household income of 50 

percent or less of the area median gross income (the "20-50 requirement"), or 

2. 40 percent or more of the units in the project are occupied by tenants having a household 

income of 60 percent or less of the area median gross income (the "40-60 requirement"). 

3.  Election of income averaging for new LIHTC developments where LIHTC Qualified Units 

(Units) may serve households earning up to 80% of the Area Median Income (AMI) so long 

as the average income limit of the Qualified Units is 60% or less of AMI. Designated income 

levels for Qualified Units may be set at 10% increments between 20% and 80% of AMI. See 

Appendix 1 for further guidance. 

Tenant income is calculated in a manner consistent with the determination of annual income 

under Section 8 of the United States Housing Act of 1937, as directed by the Internal Revenue 

Code.  Area median incomes are determined annually by the U.S. Department of Housing & 

Urban Development (HUD), and are available from GHURA. 

Rent 

Units in the project must be rent-restricted to thirty (30) percent of the imputed income 

limitations based on unit size as provided in Code Section 42(g)(1).  This rent restriction must be 

maintained throughout the Term of the Compliance and Extended-use period.  See ‘Rent 

Restrictions' in this section for further information. 

 Term of Compliance 

Projects receiving a LIHTC allocation after January 1, 1990, must comply with eligibility 

requirements for the extended use period [initial 15-year period (compliance period), in addition 

to the 15 or more years (extended use period)] determined by elections indicated in the 

Restrictive Covenant Document.  The Restrictive Covenant Document must be recorded before 

credits are allocated. 

Annual Certification 

These and other compliance requirements as listed in Section ‘A. Summary’ must be certified 

annually by the owner through the submission of the Annual Report.  The Annual Report 

includes the Owner's Certificate of Continuing Program Compliance and shall be submitted by 

February 1 of each year throughout the compliance/extended-use period.  

Records Retention 

Board Meeting of July 23, 2024 PAGE 33 of 48



The Annual Report and the supporting documentation verifying the information on the Annual 

Report must be kept for a minimum of six (6) years after the due date (with extensions) for filing 

the federal income tax return for that year.  The records for the first year of the credit period, 

however, must be retained for at least 6 years beyond the due date (with extensions) for filing 

the federal income tax return for the last year of the compliance period of the building, in 

accordance with published IRS guidelines. 

 IRS Form 8609 

Owner shall complete Part II of IRS Form 8609 and submit with subsequent Annual Reports. 

Qualified Basis Tracking Sheet (QBTS) 

This form shall be submitted annually until the required set-asides are established. Documents 

will provide information on original tenants qualifying each building for tax credits minimum set-

asides, and other set-asides. 

Status Reports 

This report is to be submitted annually by owners in such format as required by GHURA or its 

Authorized Delegate to document and track the continuous compliance of tax credit units. The 

documents report data that tenants are income eligible at move-in, that the occupants of LIHTC 

units are re-certified at least on an annual basis and that the unit rents are restricted. 

Documentation will also indicate compliance with the vacant unit rule and 140% rule.  The 

tracking of tax credit units substantiates the maintenance, increase or reduction of each BIN's 

qualified basis. 

Qualifying Households 

Applicants for low-income units should be advised early in their initial visit to the project that 

there are maximum income limits which apply to these tax credit qualified units. Management 

should explain to the tenants that the anticipated income of all persons expecting to occupy the 

unit must be verified and included on a Tenant Income Certification (TIC) prior to occupancy, and 

re-certified on an annual basis.  Applicants should be informed of other Internal Revenue Service 

requirements such as the Student Rule and Recertification. 

Unborn Children 

In accordance with the HUD Handbook 4350.3, owner shall include unborn children in 

determining household size and applicable income limits.  If permitted by state laws, owner shall 

require documentation of pregnancy in such circumstances. 

Student Households 

In accordance with the Internal Revenue Code, a household comprised entirely of full-time 

students may not be counted as a qualified household, unless the household meets at least one 

exception. Refer to the Internal Revenue Code for additional guidelines on the exceptions.  

Owner shall utilize a lease provision requiring tenants to notify managing agent of any change in 

student status. 

Calculating Anticipated Tenant Income 

Board Meeting of July 23, 2024 PAGE 34 of 48



Owner shall qualify tenants by calculating household income using the gross income the 

household anticipates it will receive in the 12-month period following the effective date of the 

income verification or Recertification.  Anticipated income should be documented in the tenant 

file by third party verification whenever possible, or by an acceptable alternate method of 

verification with documentation as to why third-party verification was not available.  Owner shall 

use current circumstances to project income, unless verification forms or other verifiable 

documentation indicate that an imminent change will occur. Owner shall refer to HUD Handbook 

4350.3 for guidance on the proper calculation and verification of income and assets per IRC 

regulations. 

Certification 

Upon acceptance of an applicant to the project, a TIC must be completed for the applicant and 

certified to by the applicant and the owner.  The form is a legal document which, when fully 

executed, qualifies the applicants to live in the set-aside units in the project. 

The TIC must be executed along with the lease prior to move-in.  No one may live in a unit in the 

project unless certified and under lease. 

The original copy of the executed TIC form is to be retained in the applicant's file.  The TIC and 

the supporting documentation verifying the TIC must be kept for a minimum of six (6) years after 

the due date (with extensions) for filing the federal income tax return for that year.  The records 

for the first year of the credit period, however, must be retained for at least 6 years beyond the 

due date (with extensions) for filing the federal income tax return for the last year of the 

compliance period of the building, in accordance with published IRS guidelines. 

Recertification   

For 100% LIHTC set-aside projects, annual recertifications are not required after January 1, 2014.  

However, Owners must recertify households at least once on the first anniversary of their initial 

tenancy. 

For projects with less than 100% set-aside: 

To ensure each unit is complying with the LIHTC income restrictions, GHURA requires (a) the 

owner to annually recertify each tenant's income and household composition, and (b) each 

tenant is to report certain changes in income and household composition which occur between 

regularly scheduled recertification. 

If the income of the tenants in a unit who have been previously verified increases above 140 

percent of the applicable income limitation, the unit may continue to be counted as a low-

income unit as long as the next available unit of comparable or smaller size is occupied by a 

qualified low-income tenant, and the rent continues to be restricted for the initial unit. 

Each tenant's annual recertification is to be completed within one year of last recertification.  

The request for recertification shall be made between 60 and 90 days before the effective date, 

and it must clearly state that the tenant has ten (10) calendar days in which to contact the owner 

to begin recertification processing.  The notice must also state the days and hours available for 

Board Meeting of July 23, 2024 PAGE 35 of 48



the interview, the information the tenant should bring to the interview, and how and whom to 

contact to schedule the interview. 

Upon re-verification of the tenant's income, the owner shall complete a new TIC, which shall be 

certified to by the owner or owner's designee. 

Past-Due Recertification 

A recertification is considered past due if the TIC form for the tenant is not certified by tenant 

and owner within twelve months of the last recertification. 

Rent Restrictions    
Projects receiving Low-Income Housing Tax Credits after January 1, 1990, must comply with the 

following procedures: 

• Units in the project must be rent-restricted to 30% of the imputed income limitations for 
each unit, based upon HUD area median incomes and size of units.  Rents are imputed by 
bedroom size in the following manner: a unit which does not have a separate bedroom - 1 
individual; and a unit with 1 or more separate bedrooms - 1.5 individuals per bedroom.  

• Gross rent does not include any payment for various rental assistance programs and 
supportive service assistance as outlined in Section 42 of the Code.  Gross rent must include 
any allowance for utilities. 

HUD publishes the area median incomes for each state and territory annually.  Updated income 

limits must be implemented pursuant to IRS Revenue Ruling 94-57, "Taxpayers may rely on a list 

of income limits released by HUD until 45 days after HUD releases a new list of income limits, or 

until HUD's effective date for the new list, whichever is later." Rents may be increased 

accordingly as the area median income increases. 

If the income of the tenants in a unit who have been previously verified increases above 140 

percent of the applicable income limitation, the unit may continue to be counted as a low-

income unit as long as the next unit of comparable or smaller size is occupied by a qualified low-

income tenant, and the rent continues to be restricted for the initial unit. 

Eviction of Tenants 

Once an eligible tenant has been certified and admitted to the project, the tenant may not be 

displaced solely due to an increase in the tenant's household income beyond the restricted limit. 

Audits 

The project may be subject to a management audit by GHURA or its Authorized Delegate 

annually but, at a minimum, once every three years.  Notification of an audit shall be given to 

the owner at least 30 days prior to such audit.  The results of the management audit and the 

recommendations for corrective action to protect and maintain the project shall be transmitted 

to the owner within thirty (30) days following the completion of the audit. 

The purpose of the audit will be to conduct a physical inspection of the building and/or project, 

and, for at least 20 percent of the project's low-income units, to inspect the units and review the 

low-income certifications, documentation supporting the certifications, and rent records for the 

tenants in those units.  The audit may also consist of a review of first year tenant records, a 

review of the documentation supporting the Annual Report, and any other documentation 

Board Meeting of July 23, 2024 PAGE 36 of 48



necessary for GHURA to make a determination as to whether the project is not in compliance 

with the Code. 

 

When conducting tenant file reviews, GHURA's and its Authorized Delegate's reviews shall 

include, but not be limited to: 

• completed rental application, including certification of assets and disposal of assets, if 
applicable; 

• tenant income certification completed for move-in and current year, including all required 
signatures and dates; 

• income verification(s) completed and documented; 

• assets verified in accordance with IRC regulations; 

• student eligibility documentation; 

• lease and lease addendums completed at move-in; 

• utility allowance on file; 

• review of first year tenant records which qualified the project initially for tax credits 
 

The owner shall have a period of thirty (30) days in which to respond to the findings of the 

management audit.  GHURA shall review the owner's response to determine the extent to which 

the issues raised in the management audit letter are addressed.  Findings, whether corrected or 

not, will be reported to the IRS. 

See Section ‘Non-compliance Penalties’ for information on notification to the IRS of any non-

compliance found in the management audit.  

Rural Housing Service (RHS) and Tax-exempt Bond Issue Projects 

In accordance with the published IRS guidelines on compliance monitoring, an exception may be 

granted to RHS projects under its section 515 program and buildings or projects of which 50 

percent or more of the aggregate basis is financed with the proceeds of tax-exempt bonds. 

The IRC regulations allow for exception of a building from the inspection requirement if the 

building is financed by RHS under the section 515 program, the RHS inspects the building [under 

7 CFR part 1930(C)], and the RHS and the allocating agency enter into a memorandum of 

understanding, or other similar arrangement, under which the RHS agrees to notify the 

allocating agency of the inspection results.  Irrespective of the physical inspection standard 

selected by the allocating agency, a low-income housing project under section 42 of the Internal 

Revenue Code must continue to satisfy local health, safety and building codes.  A memorandum 

of understanding has not been executed between GHURA and RHS. 

Annual Reports, QBTS, Compliance Monitoring Status Reports and other reports are still required 

of RHS projects.  Although GHURA has allowed the use of the RD 1944-8, the form does not 

determine eligibility for specific LIHTC requirements.  Owners need to determine whether the 

TIC will be used or a worksheet will be attached to RD 1944-8 to determine eligibility under the 

IRC.  Management audits will still be conducted as indicated herein. 

Board Meeting of July 23, 2024 PAGE 37 of 48



An owner who for some reason is not able to make any of the required certifications stated on 

the Annual Report or other requirements must inform the Agency immediately of such inability, 

as well as explain the reason for said inability. 

 

Reporting Requirements 

 

a. The LIHTC Annual Report must be submitted annually by February 1 of each year throughout 
the compliance/extended use period. 

b. Part II of the IRS Form 8609 must be completed by the owner and submitted with initial 
Annual Report. 

c. Qualified Basis Tracking Sheets (QBTS) are submitted at a minimum annually with LIHTC 
Annual Report until all set-asides are established. 

d. Status Reports are submitted annually by owners with Annual Report to document and track 
the continuance compliance of tax credit units throughout the compliance/extended-use 
period. 

 

These forms must be sent in to GHURA or its Authorized Delegate at the address shown in 

Section II. 

The Certification of Eligibility and LIHTC forms listed above are available from GHURA. 

Additionally, GHURA has data regarding HUD area median incomes, maximum rental rates, 

income verification information and third-party verification forms. 

Fees    

A compliance monitoring fee of up to $50 per unit for all units (for the 1st year full inspection) 

and $25 per unit for all units (once every 3 years after 1st year full inspection) within each project 

shall be charged annually for administrative expenses.  This fee shall be submitted with the 

LIHTC Annual Report for each year of the compliance/extended-use period.  GHURA reserves the 

right to adjust fees due to changing circumstances annually each January 1.  It will be the 

responsibility of GHURA to inform the owner of any changes in the annual compliance fee prior 

to the submission of fees.  The compliance monitoring fee will be effective as of the Placed-in-

Service date for the first building. 

Non-compliance Penalties 

The penalty for non-compliance with the LIHTC Program is the potential recapture of the credits 

awarded and interest on the amount recaptured.  The Internal Revenue Service shall determine 

penalties for non-compliance. 

Upon determination by GHURA of non-compliance with the LIHTC Program, the owner shall be 

notified and given thirty (30) days to correct any discovered violations.  In accordance with the 

Internal Revenue Service's published guidelines on compliance monitoring, GHURA will be 

required to notify the IRS within forty-five (45) days after the end of the thirty-day correction 

period, whether or not the non-compliance is corrected. GHURA will be given the opportunity 

on the IRS form to indicate whether the owner has corrected the non-compliance.  GHURA may 

extend the correction period, up to a total of six (6) months, if it is determined by GHURA that 

Board Meeting of July 23, 2024 PAGE 38 of 48



good cause exists for granting such an extension.  In such case, the IRS will not be notified until 

the end of the extended correction period. 

 

Extended Use Period 

 

After the initial 15-year compliance period is the Extended Use Period, GHURA is no longer 

required to report instances of non-compliance to the IRS.  Compliance during the Extended Use 

Period (EU Compliance Policy) will concentrate on enforcing the requirements of the LIHTC 

program through the term of the Declaration of Restrictive Covenants for Low Income Housing 

Credit recorded on the property.  The EU Compliance Policy is largely based on the procedures of 

the initial compliance period.  Unless noted below, the policy and procedure for compliance 

during the initial compliance period shall continue to apply to the extended use period.  

Effective Date  

The EU Compliance Policy shall be effective on the first day after the expiration of the initial 15-

year compliance period for the last building placed in service in the project. Generally, the 

extended use compliance period will begin on January 1 of the year after the expiration of the 

initial 15-year compliance period of the last building placed in service and be in effect until the 

end of the extended use period.  

Income and Rent Set Aside  

Owners are subject to the Section 42 occupancy and rent restrictions required in the Declaration 

of Land Use Restrictive Covenants for Low-Income Housing Credits.  

Student Households  

As GHURA wants to ensure that properties in the extended use period are not used as dormitory 

housing, a modified student eligibility requirement will be enforced.  During the extended use 

period, a household comprised entirely of full-time students will qualify as long as at least one 

member of the household is an independent student or is a student in grades Kindergarten 

through 12 (including home schooled minors studying course material within these grades).  An 

independent student is defined as one who is not claimed as a dependent on his/her parent’s 

tax return (proof required).  

Available Unit Rule / 140% Rule  

For projects which include market rate units, the Available Unit Rule and the 140% Rule do not 

apply during the extended use period.  The percentage of tax credit units as specified in the 

Declaration of Restrictive Covenants for Low Income Housing Credits must be maintained 

throughout the extended use period.  

Certification and Recertification  

Certification of tenants at the time of move-in shall be required during the extended use period 

according to the same procedure as the compliance period.  Recertification of tenants will not 

Board Meeting of July 23, 2024 PAGE 39 of 48



be required during the extended use period.  However, if any adults are added to the household, 

then the household must be re-certified.  

 

Unit Transfers  

During the extended use period, unit transfers are allowed without a new income qualification.  

Documentation of all unit transfers that occur shall be submitted as part of the Reporting 

Requirements.  

Reporting Requirements  

1. The LIHTC Annual Report must be submitted annually by February 1 of each year 
throughout the extended use period. 

2. Status Reports are submitted annually by owners with the Annual Report to document and 
track the continuing compliance of tax credit units throughout the extended use period.  

 

Site Audits  

Commencing within three years after the expiration of the Compliance Period, site audits for 

projects may be conducted at least once every five years.  Projects that have substantial 

outstanding non-compliance beyond the correction period based on the findings of the most 

recent site audit may be subject to more frequent site audits.  

Owner Inspection  

Owners shall conduct an annual physical inspection of each unit and common areas in the 

project.  

Correction Period and Non-compliance Penalties  

Upon determination by GHURA of non-compliance with the LIHTC Program during the extended 

use period, the owner shall be notified and given thirty (30) days to correct any discovered 

violations.  GHURA may extend the correction period on a case-by-case basis, up to a total of six 

(6) months, if it is determined by GHURA that good cause exists for granting such an extension.  

Owners may request GHURA to review all outstanding non-compliance issues for a property 

once per calendar year after the initial correction period. Any owner and constituent entities 

involved in management and ownership of a project with an unresolved finding of non-

compliance beyond the initial correction period may be deemed to be Not in Good Standing by 

GHURA’s Fiscal Department.  Owners must clear all outstanding non-compliance issues to be 

deemed in Good Standing with GHURA.  

Appeal 

All appeals shall be resolved in accordance with GHURA’s Appeals and Process Procedure, copies 

of which are maintained at GHURA’s office. 

Board Meeting of July 23, 2024 PAGE 40 of 48



Other 

High-Cost Area Designation. Newly constructed buildings located outside of designated 

Difficult to Develop Areas or Qualified Census Tracts qualify as a high cost area. The 

additional LIHTC available from the “basis boost” will be used to offset the high cost of 

construction and land throughout the island. 

Board Meeting of July 23, 2024 PAGE 41 of 48



Appendix 1 
Income Averaging Guidelines 

 

GHURA Guidelines for Utilizing the Income Averaging Minimum Set-Aside for Applications under 

Consideration or Already Approved 

The Consolidated Appropriations Act of 2018 establishes income averaging as a new minimum set-aside 

election for new LIHTC developments. It allows LIHTC Qualified Units to serve households earning as 

much as 80% of Area Median Income (AMI) so long as the average income limit of the Qualified Units is 

60% or less of AMI. Designated income levels for Qualified Units may be set at 10% increments between 

20% and 80% of AMI. GHURA will accept proposals for utilizing income averaging in application that are 

under consideration, have already been approved or have already initially closed, subject to the 

requirements outlined below. 

General Requirements for All Income Averaging Proposals: 

• Utilization of income averaging requires GHURA consent 

• Proposals will not be accepted without evidence of approval by the syndicator/investor 

• Changes in the AMI bands must be supported by a market study 

• Proposals must maintain the requirements of any GHURA funding award 

• A revised application and associated exhibits may be required 

• If the use of income averaging triggers higher fees for compliance monitoring, the increase will 
need to be incorporated in the project budget 

Additional Requirements for Developments that have already initially closed: 

• Proposals will only be considered for Developments that have not yet executed Form 8609 

• The proposal must continue to meet the requirements of the Section 42 of the Internal Revenue 
Code 

• Set-aside elections made in the Extended Housing Commitment executed at initial closing and 
recorded at the Recorder’s Office may need to be amended 

  

Board Meeting of July 23, 2024 PAGE 42 of 48



Appendix 2 
Market Study 

 

In accordance with Section 42(m)(1)(A)(iii) of the Internal Revenue Code, GHURA requires a 

comprehensive Market Study of the housing needs of low-income individuals in the area to be served by 

the project.  The Market Study is to be conducted by a disinterested party approved by GHURA and must 

be submitted as part of the application.  The Market Study shall be completed at the Owner's expense.  

Any applicant that fails to submit a Market Study, or submits a Market Study dated more than 6 months 

earlier than the date of application shall be returned to the applicant and the application will not receive 

further consideration. 

The Market Study shall address the following information: 

• A statement of the competence of the market analyst. 

• A description of the proposed site. 

• Demographic analysis of the number of households in the market area which are income eligible 
and can afford to pay the rent. Estimate of capture rates for the market areas. 

• Geographic definition and analysis of the market area. 

• Identification of the project including location, unit counts, income levels and target population. 
Market Study must be consistent with the proposed project. 

• Analysis of household sizes and types in the market. 

• A description of comparable developments in the market area. 

• Analysis of practically available rents, vacancy rates, operating expenses and turnover rates of 
comparable properties in the market area. 

• Analysis of practically available rents, vacancy rates and turnover rates of market rate properties 
in the market area. Projected operating funds and expenses, when available at the time of the 
study.  

• Expected market absorption of the proposed rental housing, including a description of the effect 
of the market area. 

• Identification and commentary of proposed projects in the market areas. 

• Analysis of market demand for tenants with special housing needs when applicable. 

• Analysis of impacts of development to the area’s existing education, public safety, and utilities 
infrastructure. 

Projects that are requesting credits from eligible basis generated from a Community Service Facility as 

defined in Section 42(d)(4)(C)(iii) must provide a market study that addresses the following: 

• A description of Services provided that improve the quality of life for community residents. 

• The market area and demand for services provided. 

• The applicability of service provided to the community. 

• The affordability of the services provided to persons of 60% AMGI or less. 
 

 

Board Meeting of July 23, 2024 PAGE 43 of 48



Board Meeting of July 23, 2024 PAGE 44 of 48



Board Meeting of July 23, 2024 PAGE 45 of 48



 

 

GUAM HOUSING AND URBAN RENEWAL AUTHORITY  

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS  

RESOLUTION NO. FY2024-016(A) 

Moved by:    Seconded by:    

 

AMENDMENT TO RESOLUTION NO. 2024-016 AUTHORIZING GHURA TO INCLUDE 
AND ACCEPT A GRANT OF THREE HUNDRED THOUSAND ($300,000.00) IN GUAM 
CORONAVIRUS STATE AND LOCAL FISCAL RECOVERY FUNDS FOR COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS AND ASSOCIATED ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS 

 
WHEREAS, on May 28th, 2024, the Board of Commissioners of the Guam Housing and 

Urban Renewal Authority (“GHURA” or “Authority”) accepted the offer of a 
loan from the Honorable Lourdes A. Leon Guerrero, I Maga’hågan Guåhan, 
in an amount not to exceed Ten Million Dollars ($10,000,000.00) for capital 
projects, specifically, the purchase of real property viable for the 
development of healthcare facilities, and related community development 
projects within the Municipality of Mangilao, Guam; and 

 
WHEREAS, on July 2nd, 2024, the Honorable Lourdes A. Leon Guerrero, I Maga’hågan 

Guåhan, transmitted a letter to the GHURA’s Board of Commissioners; and 
 
WHEREAS,  an offer authorizing the immediate disbursement of grant funds in the amount 

of Three Hundred Thousand ($300,000.00) to facilitate research, survey, and 
appraisal costs, as well as associated administrative costs for the purchase 
of real property viable for the development of healthcare facilities, and related 
community development projects within the Municipality of Mangilao, Guam; 
and  

 
WHEREAS, the amount of the grant ultimately authorized for the purchase of real 

property identified by GHURA shall be determined based on the value 
of the property identified; and 

 
WHEREAS,  the award of the grant is contingent upon the Department of 

Administration’s determination that the intended use is consistent with 
the requirements of the Interim Final Rule as updated through the 
issuance by the U.S. Department of Treasury of Frequently Asked 
Questions and Responses thereto; and 

 
WHEREAS, the terms of the grant are to be negotiated to the benefit of GHURA; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, the funding source is Federal funds from the Coronavirus State and Local 
Fiscal Recovery Funds (“SLFRF”); and 

 

WHEREAS, SLFRF are subject to the U.S. Department of Treasury’s Final Rule and 
other Federal statutory and regulatory requirements consistent with the use 

of any Federal funding; and 
 

Board Meeting of July 23, 2024 PAGE 46 of 48



 

 

WHEREAS, GHURA routinely executes projects subject to the conditions of Federal 

funding, which include, but are not limited to the National Environmental 
Protection Act (“NEPA”), Federal Appraisal Standards, and the Uniform 
Guidance; and  

 
WHEREAS,  GHURA has a long history of assisting or completing community projects, in 

full or in part, that include, but are not limited to public health laboratories, 
community health facilities, behavioral health facilities, senior citizen centers, 
adult-day care facilities, police stations, fire stations, and recreational facilities; 
now, therefore be it 

 
RESOLVED, that the Board of Commissioners of the Guam Housing and Urban Renewal 

Authority accepts the offer of a grant in the amount of Three Hundred 
Thousand ($300,000.00) to facilitate research, survey, and appraisal costs, 
as well as associated administrative costs for the purchase of real property 
for development of healthcare facilities, and related projects, including 
affordable homes for our elderly and veterans; and be it further 

 
RESOLVED,   that the Executive Director is authorized and directed to negotiate grant terms 

beneficial to GHURA, exercise any executive powers, privileges, duties, or 
functions consistent with powers granted to GHURA under 12 GCA Chapter 
5 relative to the purpose and conditions of the grant; and be it further 

 
RESOLVED, that any real property acquired utilizing funds granted under this policy shall 

be held by GHURA for housing projects as defined in 12 GCA § 5102; and 
be it further 

 
RESOLVED,   that the Board of Commissioners of the Guam Housing and Urban Renewal 

Authority reserves its authority to approve any grant, sale, like-kind 
exchange, or any other conveyance of any real property acquired utilizing 
funds granted under this policy; and be it further  

 
RESOLVED, that GHURA shall report these funds as a sub-grant to be reported in the year 

expended in the Authority’s Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards; 
and be it further 

 
RESOLVED,  that a financial report on the grant activity shall be provided at regular board 

meetings; and be it further 
 
RESOLVED, that the Board of Commissioners of the Guam Housing and Urban Renewal 

Authority reaffirms its action at the regular board meeting held on May 28th, 
2024 accepting the offer of a loan from the Honorable Lourdes A. Leon 
Guerrero, I Maga’hågan Guåhan, in an amount not to exceed Ten Million 
Dollars ($10,000,000.00) for capital projects, specifically, the purchase of real 
property viable for the development of healthcare facilities, and related 
community development projects within the Municipality of Mangilao, Guam. 

 
 
 

Board Meeting of July 23, 2024 PAGE 47 of 48



 

 

IN REGULAR BOARD MEETING, SINAJANA, GUAM - JULY 23, 2024 
PASSED BY THE FOLLOWING VOTES: 

                      AYES:   
NAYS:  
ABSENT:  
ABSTAINED:  
 
 

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true, 
and correct copy of a Resolution duly adopted 
by the Guam   Housing   and   Urban  Renewal  
Authority Board of Commissioners on  
July 23, 2024. 

 
  
                                                                                                        

                          (S E A L)                        ELIZABETH F. NAPOLI 

                        Board Secretary / Executive Director 

  
  
  
  
  

  
  
  

  
    

   
 
 

  
  
  
   

 
 

Board Meeting of July 23, 2024 PAGE 48 of 48




